
 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 

601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 
 

Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor                        City Attorney 
Julie T. Martin, Mayor Pro Tem                      Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner                      
Felicia M. Harris, Commissioner                                                                                                                              City Manager 
Kendra L. Rolle, Commissioner                Regina M. McDuffie 
                                                         
      

www.brunswickga.org  
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 21, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1.   Adoption of June 21, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.  
RECOGNITION(S), PRESENTATION(S), & AWARD(S) 
2.  Presentation of a Check from Georgia Pacific for $20,000.00 to Support the Installation of Fitness  
     Court at Goodyear Park.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 1) 
ANNOUNCEMENT(S) 
3.  Public Safety and Community Violence Reduction Strategies Grant Awarded in the amount of $978,450 
     from Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 2) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE(S) (A. Brown) 
4. 

Name of Business Business 
Owner/Manager 

Business Address Permit Type 

J E and N Inc., DBA 
Five Points Mini Mart 

Owner: Rajendraprasad 
Patel 

2806 Altama Ave., 
Brunswick, GA 

Retail sales of beer and 
wine. 

Pie Guys Pizza Owner: Hugo Acero- 
Espinoza 

710 Glynn Isle, 
Brunswick, GA 

On premise consumption of 
beer and wine. 

Danny’s Corner Owner: Dharmeshkumar 
Desai 

2432 Newcastle St., 
Brunswick, GA 

Retail sales of beer and 
wine. 

 
 
 

http://www.brunswickga.org/
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


Page 2 
June 21, 2023 
Brunswick City Commission Agenda 

APPOINTMENT(S) 
5. Authorities (N. Atkinson) 

1) Brunswick-Glynn Development Authority – Three Appointments – (Joint Brunswick/Glynn 
County Appointments)

ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
6. Consider Approval of June 7, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary 

changes.)  (N. Atkinson) (Encl. 3)
7. Consider Approval of Resolution 2023-12 ~ Adoption of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget.  (R. McDuffie)

(Encl. 4)
8. Consider Approval of Pay Incentives for Public Safety and Public Works Personnel. (R. McDuffie)

(Encl. 5)
EXECUTIVE SESSION 



Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT:  Check Presentation for Fitness Court for Good Year Park  

 

NO ACTION REQUIRED ON:             June 21, 2023  

PURPOSE: The acceptance of a check to support the installation of a Fitness Court in 
Goodyear Park.  Georgia Pacific is presenting a check in the amount of $20,000 to sponsor 
the proposed park improvements.  Other local partners include the College of Coastal 
Georgia, Southeast Georgia Health Systems and Glynn County.  A $30,000 grant from 
National Fitness Campaign was received in FY 2022 to support the project.   

HISTORY:  The City has worked to improve the provision of outdoor recreational 
activities by enhancing the amenities in public parks.  We have been looking at new and 
innovative ways to engage our citizens, residents and visitors in outdoor recreation.  The 
Goodyear Park has an active number of people that work and live near the park.  The 
Fitness Court would be a great addition and would help promote physical activities in the 
park.    

FACTS AND ISSUES:  Goodyear Park is considered a prime location for this recreational 
opportunity due to its close proximity to the campuses of the College of Coastal Georgia 
and Southeast Healthcare System and active neighborhood populations.  The park has a 
concrete area that was previously used for basketball that can accommodate the 
installation of the court without adversely impacting any other activities that may be 
engaged in the park.   

BUDGET INFORMATION: This will support previous funding allocated for the project.  

 

OPTIONS: 

1. No action required at this time. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

DEPARTMENT:  City Manager / Public Works  

Prepared by: Regina M. McDuffie  

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 



Page | 2 
 

The administration supports all enhancements to city facilities in accordance with the 
growth and prosperity of the community.   

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

Very grateful for the support from all of the partners in this project.   

 

________________________________    ________________________ 

City Manager                                                                                      Date                   
      

6/13/23



Public Safety and Community Violence Reduction Strategies Grant - Awarded 
from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget.   

Project Description:   Project Safe Communities  

Project Award:   $978,450 

Project Narrative: Integrated Camera Platform 

With 20 years of public safety experience, I can definitively say video surveillance is some of the best 
evidence to have when prosecuting any criminal case. Video surveillance is also a great way to prevent 
crime as well. While having a large network of camera’s is a great tool, it’s also very expensive. With a 
public safety grant, the City of Brunswick can build a large and extensive network of cameras 
strategically placed throughout the city which would not only assist public safety with the evidence 
needed to prosecute criminal cases, but a deterrent to prevent crimes from occurring in the first place. 
The system of cameras will have multiple applications as noted below. Our system will work in two 
ways, first we will build a database using existing cameras located throughout the city which will be both 
privately owned as well as government operated. Second, the city will install new cameras strategically 
placed throughout the city around major thoroughfares and high crime areas.  

Our camera system utilizes proprietary software which is easily installed on existing cameras throughout 
the city. This includes cameras which are privately owned by local business owners, etc. The software 
gives law enforcement access to surveillance video in real time, as well as the ability to record video 
which could be needed for evidence. This is a powerful force multiplier as time is precious when 
investigating major crimes. It can take hours to obtain video surveillance which significantly hinders law 
enforcement. If the business owner consents, we plug the software into the existing camera system and 
we now can view and download surveillance video instantly. When there are several businesses in 
proximity to one another who partner with law enforcement, it increases our ability to get multiple 
streams of video to identify suspects, witnesses and vehicles. It also gives law enforcement the ability to 
watch live video to monitor current conditions and situations which can provide valuable information to 
assist us in making decisions. These decisions can range manpower needs to safety conditions which can 
help prevent dangerous situations and give law enforcement the advantage providing service to the 
community. A powerful component of the system is an integrated artificial intelligence software which 
allows the user to search for specific items. The software identifies and marks the video for the item 
being searched for. An example is a search for a white truck. Instead of the law enforcement official 
watching video looking for a white truck, the system will mark all areas of the video it identifies as a 
white truck which allows more video to be searched in less time which gives law enforcement a 
significant advantage over traditional systems.  

Our system will also work with a multitude of other government establishments and partnerships such 
as government buildings (tag office, property tax, etc.), court houses, public housing authorities, schools, 
and large venues such as stadiums. All these locations either hold a large number of individuals, or they 
have a high volume of traffic where video surveillance is critical. In the city limits of Brunswick alone we 
have 9 schools, 23 parks, 10 public housing establishments, 1 stadium, 1 hospital, a multitude of city and 
county government buildings which include 2 courthouses, 2 city halls, and a jail. All the video 
surveillance systems currently at these establishments would immediately become operational with the 



platform we’re going to utilize and create a network of video which would be leveraged to reduce crime 
and increase our solvability factor.  

The second way to use the system is to install new cameras strategically around the city, and to utilize 
the ability to view video in real time. Working with the Chief of police, and combining our 50 years of 
law enforcement experience, we picked locations around the city which we felt gave us the best chance 
to use video surveillance to reduce crime. The cameras will not only record video in real time, but will 
allow public safety to retrieve that video instantly. Again, the system has an artificial intelligence 
component which allows the software to search the video. Not only can it search for items such as 
vehicles, but also allows the camera to read license plates as well. When searching the system with 
specific details such as a vehicle color or model it reduces the amount of time spent looking for evidence 
and gives law enforcement a greater chance of apprehending suspects or vehicles. Also, by placing 
cameras strategically around the city it gives law enforcement the ability to monitor a multitude of 
scenarios including traffic flow, accidents, and large crowds. After careful review a list of intersections 
were picked based upon the proximity to population density, traffic flow, and high crime areas. The 
intersections selected were: 

 Altama Ave @ Community Rd 
 Altama Ave @ Fourth St 
 Altama Ave @ First St 
 Glynn Ave @ Fourth St 
 Glynn Ave @ Parkwood Dr 
 Norwich St @ Fourth St 
 Norwich St @ I St 
 Norwich St @ Gloucester St 
 Newcastle St @ Fourth St 
 Bay St @ Gloucester St 
 Gloucester St @ MLK Blvd 
 Gloucester St @ Glynn Ave 
 Newcastle St @ Fourth Ave 
 Glynn Ave @ Fourth Ave 

In addition to the camera system the city of Brunswick and Brunswick Police Department want to 
incorporate lighting into this plan. There are numerous federal studies which show the benefit of adding 
lighting to high crime areas and its affect on crime. Not only will the cameras benefit from having 
additional lighting, but it makes the community safer as well. We looked at several high crime areas 
which would benefit from additional lighting at the street level. The initial cost of adding additional 
lighting is free. Georgia Power installs lighting at no up-front cost and charges a monthly fee to continue 
to operate the lighting. The light fixtures would be the Autobahn-ATB0. These lights use LED lighting for 
efficiency, have no warm-up time, are mounted on round 30-foot aluminum poles, and have quick 
replacement of inoperative lights. The cost to run each light is approximately $70.00 monthly. That is 
approximately $840.00 per year (per light). With an initial investment of 50 lights around the city in high 
crime areas the initial annual cost would be $42,000. We hope to use grant money to fund several years 
of this initiative.  



Another benefit of this camera system is it’s integrated into our police department’s CAD software. This 
is the software Glynn 911 dispatch center utilizes to dispatch police officers to calls for service. When an 
officer is dispatched to any location where the cameras are located, it immediately brings that camera 
feed up so both the officer and the dispatcher can see a live real time video. This allows the officer and 
dispatcher to gain valuable information before the officer gets to the scene. As a law enforcement 
officer, I know the difficulty in trying to figure out what kind of scene you’re responding to when the 
caller will not give all the information or gives inaccurate information. And if a dispatcher can see real 
time video and disseminate information to officers who are responding to a scene it gives law 
enforcement a significant advantage. In addition, too many officers are ambushed on calls where any 
knowledge of the events beforehand would have saved an officer’s life. These are just a few of the 
benefits this system adds to a law enforcements toolbox. 

The initial cost for this system is $125,000.00 for the first year. The system is $125,000.00 annually 
thereafter. The initial investment provides all the infrastructure and set-up which includes 45 Core Pro 
boxes (able to stream up to 25 cameras each) and 5 Core Elite AI boxes (able to stream up to 50 cameras 
each). The Artificial Intelligence cameras are $500.00 each and $25/monthly to add to the network, 
these are the cameras we would add to the 14 locations listed above. From there additional cores can 
be purchased by either the department, or other establishments if they wish to have their cameras join 
the network. I would like to utilize grant money to purchase additional cores to help bring business and 
other establishments onto the system. The initial 45 Core Pros and 5 Core Elites we can utilize to add our 
cameras to the network. We could also give some of those to other entities to bring into the network. 
For example, we could give one of the Core Elites to a high school or housing authority. We would then 
be able to start streaming all their surveillance video instantly. Based on the initial investment for the 
camera system, considering the additional cameras we would like to add, and the lighting component, 
we are looking at $174,350 for the first year and approximately $167,000 annually to maintain the 
equipment we have. With this grant we could add a substantial amount of lighting, new cameras, and 
new Core boxes and still have enough money to fund this project for the 4 years (the money has to be 
spent within 4 years).   



OFFICIAL MINUTES 
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 7, 2023 
AT 5:30 P.M. 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

 
PRESENT:  Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson ~ (arrived at 5:54 p.m.), Mayor Pro-Tem Julie Martin,  
                       Commissioner John Cason III, Commissioner Felicia Harris ~ (attended virtually via zoom), and   
                       Commissioner Kendra Rolle  
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Pro Julie Martin ~ meeting began at 5:37 p.m.                                  
INVOCATION:  Pastor Michael Hardy, Guiding Light Ministries International 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited in unison by all in attendance. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING - FINANCE  
1.   City of Brunswick Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget.  (R. McDuffie) 
      City Manager McDuffie gave an overview for the above-subject proposed fiscal year 2023/2024. 
      Mayor Pro Tem Martin opened the floor for anyone to address the commission regarding the proposed  
      FY 2023/2024 budget. 
      The following individuals addressed the commission: 

1) Lance Sabbe, 1110 Prince Street, stated the budget presented was one of the best budgets he’ seen 
presented over the past ten years. 

Public Hearing closed at 5:53 p.m. 
       

*** 
ADDENDUM(S) TO AGENDA  
Commissioner Rolle made a motion to defer consideration for the new alcohol license for Bubba Garcia’s; 
seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
POINT OF PRIVILEDGE  
City Manager McDuffie introduced Mandy Sapp who joins the City of Brunswick as Municipal Court 
Chief Clerk and Carrie Hogan who joins the City of Brunswick as the Public Information Officer (PIO). 

*** 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin passed gavel over to Mayor Johnson. 

*** 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
2.   Adoption of June 7, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.  
      Commissioner Rolle made a motion to adopt the above-referenced agenda; seconded by Commissioner  
      Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
No one was present to address the commission during public comment. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING – NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE(S) (A. Brown) 
3. 

NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE  

Name of Business Business 
Owner/Manager 

Business Address Permit Type 

J E and N Inc., DBA 
Five Points Mini Mart 

Owner: Rajendraprasad 
Patel 

2806 Altama Ave., 
Brunswick, GA 

Retail sales of beer and 
wine. 

Pie Guys Pizza Owner: Hugo Acero- 
Espinoza 

710 Glynn Isle, 
Brunswick, GA 

On premise consumption of 
beer and wine. 

Bubba Garcia’s Owner: Connor Rankin 201 Gloucester St., 
Brunswick, GA 

On premise consumption of 
beer, wine and liquor. 

    Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to defer consideration for a new alcohol license for J E and N  
    Inc., DBA Five Points Mini Mart; until the owner can meet with Neighborhood and Planning      
    Assembly; seconded by Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
    Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to defer consideration for a new alcohol license for Pie Guys  
    Pizza until the June 21, 2023 commission meeting, until the owner can meet with the Neighborhood 
    and Planning Assembly; seconded by Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
    Consideration for approval of a new alcohol license for Bubba Garcia’s was deferred until a later date. 
     

NEW ALOCHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE 
* Deferred on April 19, 2023 Commission Meeting* 

Name of Business Business 
Owner/Manager 

Business Address Permit Type 

Danny’s Corner Owner: 
Dharmeshkumar Desai 

2432 Newcastle St., 
Brunswick, GA 

Retail sales of beer and wine. 

    Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to defer consideration for a new alcohol license for Danny’s  
    Corner until June 21, 2023 commission meeting until the owner can meet with the Neighborhood and 
    Planning Assembly; seconded by Commissioner Rolle. Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC HEARING(S) – LAND USE 
4. Consider Approval of Conditional Use Petition No. 23-01; from Rufus & Lapeka Johnson, Petitioning       
    for a Conditional Use to Construct a Tri-Plex Residence at 2802 Hunter Street.  (J. Hunter)  
    
    Planning, Development and Code Director Hunter gave an overview of the above-referenced conditional  
    use petition.  He stated both staff and the Planning and Appeals Commission recommended approval of   
    Conditional Use Petition No. 23-01. 
 
    Mayor Johnson opened the floor to anyone wanting to speak in favor or opposition of Conditional Use  
    Petition No. 23-01 
 
     No one came forth to address the commission. 
 
    Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to approve Conditional Use Petition No. 3-01; seconded by  
    Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
APPOINTMENT(S)   
5. Boards, Commissions, Authority and Committee 

I. Hospital Authority Board – Three Nominations 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to nominate Roosevelt Harris, Rhodora Tuten and Ronda 
Vakulich for consideration of appoint to the Hospital Authority Board; seconded by Commissioner 
Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 



3 
 

II. Planning and Appeals Commission – Two Appointments 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to reappoint Lance Sabbe and Grace Green to the Planning 
and Appeals Commission; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

III. Downtown Development Authority – Three Appointments 
Commissioner Cason made a motion to reappoint Julie Martin to the above-referenced authority; 
seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed by a vote of 4 to 0; with Mayor Pro Tem Martin 
abstaining. 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to appoint Susan Bates to the above-referenced authority; 
seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to appoint Peggy Shannan to the above-referenced 
authority; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Mayor Pro Tem Martin rescinded her motion. 
Commissioner Rolle made a motion to appoint Travis Stegall, to the above-referenced authority; 
seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 

IV. Tree Board – Two Appointments – Two Appointments 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to appoint Ashby Nix-Worley and Anne Baptista to the Tree 
Board; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

V. Audit Committee – One Appointment 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to appoint Delon Williams to the Audit Committee; seconded 
by Mayor Pro Tem Martin.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 

VI. Coastal African American Historic Preservation Commission – Two Appointments 
Commissioner Cason made a motion to reappoint Roosevelt Harris to the Coastal African 
American Historic Preservation Commission; seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed 
unanimously. 
City Clerk Atkinson was instructed to re-advertise for the remaining opening for the above-
referenced commission. 
 

VII. Historic Preservation Board – Three Appointments 
Commissioner Cason made a motion to reappoint Josh Dukes and Delores Polite to the Historic 
Preservation Board; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin.  Motion passed unanimously.  
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to appoint Jerry Spencer to the above-referenced board; 
seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passe unanimously. 
 

VIII. Coastal Regional Commission – One Appointment~ (Non-Public Representative) (Mayoral 
Appointment) 
Mayor Johnson reappointed Shaw McVeigh to the Coastal Regional Commission as a non-public 
representative. 

ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
6.  Consider Approval of May 17, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary 
      changes.)  (N. Atkinson)  
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the May 17, 2023 regular scheduled meeting minutes;  
     seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin. Motion passed unanimously. 
7.  Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of April 30, 2023.  (K. Mills)  
     Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to approve the April 30, 2023 financial reports; seconded by  
     Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
8.  Consider Approval to Renew Contract with the Georgia Department of Corrections for Labor  
     Services.  (G. Alberson) 
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced contract in the amount of  
     $49,318.00; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 



4 
 

CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
9.  Consider Approval of Memorandum of Understanding Between the City of Brunswick, Forward  
     Brunswick, Inc., Signature Squares of Brunswick, Inc. and Brunswick Downtown Development  
     Authority for Executing the Renovation of Hillary Square through a T-Mobile Hometown Grant of  
     $50,000.  
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced Memorandum of Understanding,  
     with the amendment to remove Brunswick Downtown Development Authority from the Memorandum  
     of Understanding; seconded by Mayor Johnson.  Motion passed unanimously. 
ANNOUNCEMENT(S) 
10. Improving Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Grant Award.       
      (R. McDuffie) 
      City Manager McDuffie announced the grant award from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget  
      Improving Neighborhood Outcomes in Disproportionally Impacted Communities Funding Opportunity.   
      She stated the City of Brunswick was granted $2,124,808.40 for renovation and improvements to  
      Howard Coffin Park.   
      City Manager McDuffie recognized Mary Jo DiAngelo in the audience who volunteered her assistance  
      in preparing the grant application along with staff members.   
EXECUTIVE SESSION (7:30 p.m.) 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss litigation and real 
estate; seconded by Commissioner Cason. Motion passed unanimously.  
RECOVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Following executive session:  
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to pursue litigation based on recommendations of City Attorney 
Corry; seconded by Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Commissioner Cason. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
MEETING AJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 8:21 p.m. 
 
        /s/Cosby H. Johnson   
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
 
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson 
            Naomi D. Atkinson 
            City Clerk 
























	6.21.23 Agenda Packet
	Encl. 1  Presentation of Check GA Pacific
	Encl. 2  Public Saftey.Community Violence Reduction Strategies Grant
	Encl. 3  Minutes
	Encl. 4  20232024 Budget Resolution
	Encl. 5  Pay Incentives for PS.PW Personnel

